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1. Name of Property

historic name Greensburg Downtown Historic District

other names/site number N/A

2. Location

street & number see _caontinuation sheet N/ACI not for publication
city or town Greensburg lMI"\/icinity
state _Indiana code _IN  county Decatur code 031  zip code __47240

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended, | hereby certify that this w nomination
O request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the National Register of
Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60. In my opinion, the property

meets [ does not me e National Register criteria. | recommend that this property be considered significant
tionally [ statewi locally. (] Sge continuation sheet for additional comments.)
V) Yar- 224 ,2& £/ /%5

Signatlre of cerfifying official/Title Date

Indiana Department of Natural Resources
State of Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property [ meets ] does not meet the National Register criteria. (D See continuation sheet for additional
comments.)

Signature of certifying official/Title Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

4. National Park Service Certtification
| hereby certify that the property is: Signature of the Keeper Date of Action
[J entered in the National Register.

[J see continuation sheet.

[J determined eligible for the
National Register
[ see continuation sheet.
[J determined not eligible for the
National Register.
[ removed from the National
Register.
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Greensburg Downtown Historic Patrict
Name of Property

Decatr -, Indiana
County ana _.ate

5. Classification

Ownership of Property Category of Property

(Check as many boxes as apply) (Check only one box)
X private [ building(s)
X public-local X! district
UJ public-State ] site

O structure
(] object

(A public-Federal

Name of related multiple property listing
(Enter ““N/A” if property is not part of a multiple property listing.)

N/A

Number of Resources within Property
(Do not include previously listed resources in the count.)

Contributing Noncontribufing
67 12 buildings
sites
structures
objects
70 17 Total

Number of contributing resources previously listed
in the National Register

ya

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

COMMERCE/TRADE: Speciality Store

COMMERCE/TRADE: Department Store

COMMERCE /TRADE: Restaurant

GOVERNMENT: City Hall

GOVERNMENT: Courthouse

GOVERNMENT: Post Office

SOCIAL: Meeting Hall

RECREATION & CULTURE:  Sports Facili

Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

COMMERCE/TRADE: Specialty Store
COMMERCE/TRADE: Department Store
COMMFRCE /TRADE: Restaurant
GOVERNMENT: City Hall

__GOVERNMENT:  Caurthouse -
GOVERNMENT: - Post Office
SOCIAL: Meeting Hall

7. Description

Architectural Classification
(Enter categories from instructions)

LATE VICTORIAN: italianate
LATE VICTORIAN: Queen Anne
LATE 19th & 20th C. RFVIVAiS: (lassical Revival

Narrative Description

- Materials
(Enter categories from instructions)
foundation STONE: [ imestone
walls BRICK
STONE:  Limestone
roof ASPHALT
other METAL: Tin

METAL: Cast Iran

(Describe the historic and current condition of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)




Greensburg Downtown Historic District
Name of Property

Decatur, Indiana

County ¢ - 3tate

8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria
(Mark “x” in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property
for National Register listing.)

%) A Property is associated with events that have made
a significant contribution to the broad patterns of
our history.

[J B Property is associated with the lives of persons
significant in our past.

&1 C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics
of a type, period, or method of construction or
represents the work of a master, or possesses
high artistic values, or represents a significant and
distinguishable entity whose components lack
individual distinction.

[J D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield,
information important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations
(Mark “x” in all the boxes that apply.)

Property is:

(J A owned by a religious institution or used for
religious purposes.

LJ B removed from its original location.

O C a birthplace or grave.

(] D a cemetery.

LI E a reconstructed building, object, or structure.
U F a commemorative property.

[0 G less than 50 years of age or achieved significance
within the past 50 years.

Narrative Statement of Significance

(Explain the significance of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)

"Areas of Significance

(Enter categories from instructions)

COMMERCE

—POLITICS/GOVERNMENT

ARCHITECTURE

Period of Significance
1854-1945

Significant Dates:
N/A

Significant Person
(Compilete if Criterion B is marked above)

N/A

Cultural Affiliation
N/A

Architect/Buiider

__May, Edwin G

9. Major Bibliographical References

Bibilography

(Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form on one or more continuation sheets.)

Previous documentation on file (NPS):

U preliminary determination of individual listing (36
CFR 67) has been requested

[¥l previously listed in the National Register

L1 previously determined eligible by the National
Register

L] designated a National Historic Landmark

U recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey
#

U recorded by Historic American Engineering
Record #

Primary location of additional data:
k] State Historic Preservation Office

[J Other State agency
(] Federal agency
L] Local government
O University
(] Other

Name of repository:
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Name of Property County and State

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property 15.5

UTM References
(Place additional UTM references on a continuation sheet.)

111;-61 16130500 (435583729 - 328 613.009,00] |4:3]5,4]9,4,0]

Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing

oluel lelzaoagad ladssdaad aliel l613.0la.:8.0] 14,315:419,3.0

(] See continuation sheet

Verbal Boundary Description
(Describe the boundaries of the property on a continuation sheet.)

Boundary Justification _
(Explain why the boundaries were selected on a continuation sheet.)

11. Form Prepared By

nameftitie _ Linda Weintraut, Historian _

organization WEINTRAUT & NOLAN, Historians date 2-1-95

street & humber __800 Su%g'a'r"bush Ridge ’ telephone __317/873-6692

city or town Zionsville _ state __IN zip code __46Q77

Additional Documentation
Submit the following items with the completed form:

Continuation Sheets
Maps

A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property’s location.

A Sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous resources.
Photographs

Representative black and white photographs of the property.

Additional items
(Check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional items)

Property Owner
(Complete this item at the request of SHPO or FPO.)
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street & number telephone

city or town state zip code
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2.
Roughly the blocks surrounding the courthouse square that consists of buildings facing
Washington, Broadway, Main, and Franklin streets.

7. Description:

Narrative Description:

Greensburg Downtown Historic District is located in the city of Greensburg in Decatur
County in southwestern Indiana. Decatur County is set on gently rolling land in the
Muscatatuck Regional Slope that was formed during the first Ice Age when the Illinois ice
sheet moved into southern Indiana; the last ice age left Decatur County untouched.

Greensburg Downtown Historic District is a compact area that was the commercial, political,
and social heart of the town. The courthouse is sited in the middle of the district on a public
square. (See accompanying map.) The buildings that face the courthouse and those one
block off the courthouse square compose much of the commercial district. Historically, the
central business district was surrounded by single family dwellings. (See the single family
dwellings at the edge of district in photos 1, 2, and 11.) Livery stables and service-oriented
business, such as saloons and restaurants, were generally located in the southern and western
sections of the district. On the north side of the square were sites of leisure and social
activity, such as the YMCA and fraternal halls. The district today still conveys the feeling
of its historic functions. The loss of some of the buildings on the boundary, torn down for
parking areas, helps define the district’s current boundary. On the southern edge, railroad
tracks border the district. Although some properties have been demolished, the district still
exhibits a distinct historic character that is not in evidence outside of its boundaries.

Much of the district conveys a sense of the historical development that has occurred in
Greensburg since the 1850s. Architecturally, the district includes buildings from the mid-
nineteenth century, the nineteenth century, especially Italianate and Queen Anne, and several
twentieth-century buildings, which as a whole conveys a sense of the historical change that
accompanied economic prosperity. The district of 87 properties has integrity. The ratio of
contributing to non-contributing properties is approximately 4.5 : 1 (70 contributing, 67 of
which are buildings, and 17 non-contributing, 3 of which are structures and 2 of which are
objects). Most properties are buildings; there are five objects on the courthouse lawn, three
of which are historic markers from the period of significance. There are some holes in the
architectural fabric of the district due to demolitions, and a fire in the mid-1950s destroyed a
portion of the square that was subsequently rebuilt, but neither of these circumstances so
adversely affects the integrity that it renders the district ineligible.

The district has some notable streetscapes. The 100 block of North Franklin (photo 3) has a
particularly nice collection of late nineteenth century, two- and three-story brick buildings
that demonstrate a range of building styles. There are some fine examples of Italianate
architecture on the north side of the square (100 block of East Washington Street in photo
15). Unfortunately, modern buildings anchor each end of this block. The south side of the
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square displays fine examples of Victorian architecture and two banks built in the Classical
Revival style typical of the early twentieth century. (See photos 5 and 12.)

The courthouse square illustrates an evolution in architectural styles similar to many
commercial districts in Indiana. By the 1840s, Federal-style frame or brick two-story
buildings were predominate; four buildings remain from the period preceding the Civil War.
These buildings began to be replaced in the 1870s by buildings in Italianate and other
Victorian styles. Italianate architecture was clearly the most popular style during the last
thirty-five years of the century. The twentieth century saw the construction of a few
buildings, of which the two Classical Revival bank buildings, the Classical Revival Post
Office, and the Tudor Revival YMCA (photo 14) are notable.

Buildings remain from the mid-nineteenth century, although most of them were altered at a
later date. The building at the corner of Main and Franklin streets (201 East Main),
reportedly built around 1850, was "modernized” in the late nineteenth or early twentieth
century. (See photo 6.) The building at 127-125 North Broadway (photo 7) is an excellent
example of twentieth century "modernization.” It warrants description, not as a result of its
present appearance, but because historic photos and the gable roof suggest that a building
from the antebellum era likely lies beneath its twentieth century aluminum cladding. It is a
two-story, side-gable building with a moderately pitched roof that has its second story
windows hidden by vertical white siding. A flat-roof metal overhang separates the first and
second floors. Modern aluminum display windows flank each of the two first-story store
fronts. It is currently noncontributing.

The two-story brick building at 103 North Broadway known as the Palmer Building was built
circa 1860. (Photo 8 shows the building’s facade.) It has a front gable roof with a stepped
parapet topped with wooden caps and two, one-story additions constructed to the rear that
face West Main Street (photo 13). The first floor of the facade is divided into two
storefronts, each is a modern renovation with display windows and a centrally located
recessed doorway. The second story is four ranked with 1/1 replacement windows with
smooth limestone sills and lintels; the window in the gable end is similar in design but
covered in wood. The elevation that faces West Main Street has small brackets supporting
the eave; the brackets rest atop four asymmetrically placed windows on the second story;
there is only one small window of the first story that is located near the annex. The addition
immediately to the rear of the main building has corbelled recessed panels above a doorway,
a round window, and a store front containing display cases with a central recessed doorway.
The second addition, to the west of the first addition, was originally the bakery for the front
establishment; it has corbelled dentils in the cornice and on the first story, a door and a
rectangular three-light window.

The courthouse has been listed in the National Register of Historic Places since 1973. The
two-story front-gable symmetrical courthouse with castellated wings was begun in 1854 of
pink brick with limestone trim, and it is located on a public square of green space with
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curving walkways. (See photo 4.) In 1903, the exterior was covered with stucco to make it
look like rock-faced masonry. Today, the exterior is painted tan with light brown trim.
Square towers with entrance doors dominate the east and west elevations; the eastern
elevation has a clock tower with finial atop, celestry windows beneath the clock, and a tree
growing from the roof. The western elevation has a castellated tower with louvered arched
openings on each side. Most windows are 1/1 with a heavy arched window hood mold,
some of which are decorated, and all of which have a limestone sill. Windows on the first
story are separated by wall buttresses with pointed capitals that lead to a beltcourse with
varied rosette medallions. The foundation is smooth-cut limestone. The southern elevation
has a slightly projecting, three-ranked, central front gable with a center quatrefoil; each of
the castellated wings is three-ranked as well. On the wings a beltcourse divides the smaller
second-story windows from those on the first floor. The central front gable has three visual
elements: mock towers that rise to a shaped parapet on each side of the center gable.
Archading arches with heavy molds resting on a belt course are located within each square
parapet. A large central window with arched hood mold is flanked by a smaller window.
First-floor windows are rectangular with limestone lintels and sills. The northern elevation is
very similar to the facade except for differences in details: second-story windows are
rectangular with limestone lintels and sills. The castellated elevations are similar to each
other except for features in the towers. As noted above, the eastern elevation has a tall clock
tower, and the western elevation has a smaller tower with a first floor doorway with heavy
hood mold. Over the doorway the beltcourse is designed to look like a pointed arch; a round
window is located above it. There are five objects on the courthouse lawn; three are
memorials to war dead from the historic period.

Most of the buildings in the historic district were constructed in the nineteenth century after
the Civil War, with Italianate architecture being the most dominant style. Italianate buildings
were built over a span of thirty-five years; they range from the commercial block at 109 East
Main (c. 1867) to the City Hall (1874) to the businesses facing the Courthouse on North
Franklin (c. 1880) to the Knights of Pythias Building (1899). Many of these buildings have
renovated storefronts.

Although its date of construction could not be precisely ascertained, the building at 109 East
Main (c. 1867) is one of the first Italianate commercial blocks. (See the three-story building
in streetscape of East Main Street in photos 5 and 12.) Historic photographs from
newspapers show it rising along of block of Federal-style buildings in the late-1860s. This
yellow-painted brick with dark-red trim, three-story building has a slightly pitched roofline
and a projecting cornice with four pairs of supporting brackets. The second and third stories
are three ranked; the rectangular 1/1 windows have flattened arched hood molds and stone
sills. The first floor has a modern renovation with modern display windows and a recessed
doorway to the east.

The building at 107-109 South Broadway (photo 9), built.in 1874, is also Italianate. Known
as the City Hall and Police Station today, the two-story red brick building was constructed as
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the City Hall. The building rises two stories to a steeply pitched roof with a bracketed and
dentiled cornice. Seven round windows (now boarded over) mark the attic, and the second-
story has 1/1 replacement windows with masonry sills and arched hood molds. Historically,
there was a opening for a fire truck and doorway on the southern half of the building, and on
the north there was a storefront with display windows. Today, the first story has been
heavily altered; three brick arches--two arches on the north side and one on the south--make
up the ground floor elevation.

The white-painted brick building at 134 South Franklin (photo 2) was originally a house with
a saloon and restaurant attached; today it is a Red Cross Building. It is a two-story building
with a front facing "L" plan. A recessed wing rests on its original stone foundation. The
hipped roof is supported by small eave brackets. On the second floor window openings are
arched with masonry sills, and on the recessed wing they are 1/1 sash, double-hung smaller
replacements. The facade of the storefront (projecting wing) is three ranked; on the first
story, pilasters divide a central doorway and the display glass at each side. The recessed
wing, or the dwelling portion of the building, is asymmetrical. A partial, one-story porch
has four plain porch supports. The northern elevation of the recessed wing has two windows
on each floor and the projecting wing has one window. The southern elevation that faces the
railroad tracks is four ranked on the second story with three windows and a door. There are
two shed additions attached to the rear.

The Knights of Pythias Building at 215 North Broadway (1899) in photo 14 was the last
building constructed in Italianate style. It is a commercial building of yellow St. Louis
pressed brick that rises three stories to a dentiled and bracketed slightly projecting, plain
cornice. In the cornice is a plaque that reads "K.P. Building." On the second and third
stories are six double-hung, 1/1 sash windows with Bedford limestone sills and limestone
voissoirs forming flat lintels. The windows on the third floor are of stained glass and taller
than those on the second. The first floor has been altered with modern windows, doors and
aluminum facing, although cut rough-faced limestone blocks still anchor each end of the
building. This building is currently listed in the National Register of Historic Places.

The two-part commercial block at 203 East Main (c. 1880) is a three-story, three-bay brick
building that has a projecting metal cornice with four brackets. (See photo 6.) Four
diamond-shaped windows mark the attic. Windows on the second and third floor are 1/1
double-hung sash windows with a limestone keystone in the rectangular limestone and brick
hood and connected by a rusticated limestone belt course. The first story storefront has a
large display window on the east side and doors to the store and the upper floors on the
west. Metal pilasters anchor each end of the first story and rise to a metal supporting beam.

There are several buildings of Queen Anne architecture in the district. The George E.
Erdmann Building (1908) at 114 North Franklin is an example. This red-brick building with
a moderately pitched roof rises two stories to a shaped parapet with limestone coping and
arched pediments near each end of the building. A limestone plaque inscribed with "Geo. E.
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Erdmann” is in the pediment and is flanked by shaped decorative plaques in high relief
resting on a rectangular limestone base with lattice work above three limestone voissoirs.
Centered in the second-story facade is an oriel with three double-hung, sash windows and a
tile roof. Luxifer glass separates the first and second story and metal pilasters anchor each
end. Historically, display cases flanked a recessed door, and there was a door to the second
floor at the northern end. Now, the first floor is recessed and clad in brick; the doorway
positioning is consistent with historic photos.

The three-story, stucco covered brick buildings at 127 and 129 Main Street represent a
variation of a high-style Victorian architecture with eclectic features. (See photo 10.) Both
buildings have central projecting pediments placed within the modest cornice with dentils,
and round windows mark the attic stories. All windows on the second and third stories are
1/1 with limestone sills and masonry surrounds, and all window and door openings have
decorative scrolling above them. The building at 127 has a slightly projecting central
pediment that extends from the cornice to the metal supporting beam separating the first and
second stories. The balcony has been removed from this building but its metal supports
remain, and vertical wooden siding is located above the glass display windows and a central
door. Iron pilasters anchor each end of the building.

The building at 127 East Main building (photo 10) is similar in style and details to 129 East
Main except that a square oriel dominates the center of the third floor. The roof of the
square oriel is flat and the oriel is supported by a large bracket that extends midway to the
second floor and separates the two central windows. The second floor has door openings at
each end. An iron balcony divides the first and second stories. A shed roof (c. 1960s)
separates the first and second stories. The first story has a storefront with a doorway at the
west end of this building that leads to the upper floors and with display cases flanking a
recessed doorway at the east end. Most of the window and door openings are boarded over.

Other stylistic variations of Victorian architecture are evident in the district. The two-story,
two-part, red-brick commercial block with a moderately-pitched flat roof at 116 West Main
(photo 13) is a good example of a Late Victorian architecture. It is located on the original
site of the town’s marble works. The building is marked by simple features. The cornice is
modest. The second-story is six ranked with 1/1 double-hung, sash windows with masonry
sills and lintels. The first floor historically was comprised of two storefronts divided by a
door to the second story. Each of the storefronts contained a central doorway flanked by
display windows that were framed by thin metal pilasters. Today, each storefront on the first
floor is brick with rectangular metal windows flanking a central metal doorway.

Another example of Victorian architecture is located at 228 East Main Street. (See photo 1.)
This old livery stable was part of a larger complex that encompassed the quarter block at the
end of the nineteenth century. The complex consisted of a yard for horses, a small wagon
shop, and a wooden carriage and wash house that connected two brick livery barns, only one
of which is extant. The two-story white-painted, "L"-shaped brick horse barn, now a
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commercial enterprise, has a steeply pitched gable roof with asphalt shingles. The gable end
has a stepped parapet with limestone coping. Historically, the facade had 4/4 windows to the
east and a double barn doors for carriages to the west. Today a central glass door and
display windows are located in the area of the barn door. Facing South East Street, the barn
has a three-ranked elevation with a stepped parapet roof. Originally, a barn door with a
relieving arch formed the central element of this elevation and it was flanked by 4/4
windows; today ribbon replacement windows mark the first floor.

There are three Classical Revival buildings in this district. The two-story symmetrical
limestone building at 103 East Main (photo 5 and 12) built in 1922 is a good example of this
style. Free-standing Tuscan columns flank a central door framed by Doric columns and a
single light with a triangular pediment above the door. Vertical lights extend to a clock in
the center of the arch above the door surround. An arched window hood with a scrolled
keystone rests atop the Palladian motif. Egg and dart molding and dentils mark the frieze.
"Greensburg Savings and Loan" sign rests on the plain cornice.

The First Federal Savings and Loan Building located at 208 North Franklin looks like a
typical Classical Revival bank building with replacement windows, but it is not. It is really a
two-story Italianate brick building under a faux limestone facade. The building was so
severely altered in 1972 that no trace of its Italianate architecture is evident; only the brick
walls at the rear and back of the building hint at its original appearance. As a consequence,
it is noncontributing. It can be seen in the streetscape in photo 11.

As a whole, the Greensburg Downtown Historic District shows the commercial development
of the town. Renovations to storefronts and to the exterior of some buildings have occurred, -
but they in no way detract from the historic aura of the district.
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8. Statement of Significance

Greensburg Downtown Historic District, known world-over as "Tower Tree City," is
significant for its association with the areas of commerce, politics/government, and
architecture. Commerce played a vital role in the development of Greensburg’s downtown
area; the town was the central market place for Decatur County and some of the surrounding
area, especially in the railroad era. Greensburg’s growth parallels many of the other county-
seat towns across Indiana, and it was this status that brought citizens from the countryside to
the courthouse to transact legal business and to engage in politics.  Architecturally, the
district boasts an array of styles including Italianate, Victorian, and Nineteenth and Twentieth
Century Revivals. Particularly notable is the Romanesque Revival courthouse.

Greensburg Downtown Historic District has local significance in the area of commerce,
politics/government, and architecture. It meets criterion A being associated with events that
have made a significant contribution to the broad patterns of American history and criterion
C as a property that embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, or method of
construction or represents the work of a master, or possesses high artistic values, or a
significant and distinguishable entity whose components lack individual distinction. The
district’s period of significance extends from 1854 to 1945.

Antebellum Era (1820-1860)

Greensburg traces its beginning to 1820. The territory from which Decatur County was
formed was ceded to the United States government in 1818 by an Indian treaty known as the
New Purchase. Land was first offered for sale in 1820 at the land office at Brookville.
Among the first patents sold were four eighty-acre tracts to Colonel Thomas Hendricks:
Hendricks used one hundred acres of this land to lay out the town of Greensburg soon after
the General Assembly created Decatur County. Lore has it that Hendricks’ wife named the
town for her home in Greensburg, Pennsylvania. Hendricks platted the town with a public
square at its center.

The town grew slowly at first. Thomas Hendricks used his one-story cabin as a store,
courthouse and stage stop as well as a home for himself, his wife, and their five daughters.
Stores, government buildings, and homes were constructed of logs. Within three years, the
county built a two-story brick, forty-foot square courthouse on the public square and a jail
nearby. By 1837, there were enough residents to incorporate as a town. In that year,
Greensburg had approximately 800 people and 150 houses, most of which were still log.
However, within ten years, the courthouse square was lined with one- and two-story
clapboard and brick federal-style buildings. Stagecoaches traveling the Michigan Road were
the main means of conveyance to a larger world, but the poor condition of the road made
travel difficult. Dirt roads were either muddy in the rainy season or hardened ruts in the
dry. Because the town was land-locked and roads primitive, travel and trade were limited.




National Register of Historic Places Continuation Sheet 8
Section number 8

In 1853 railroad service began, and it transformed Greensburg because it connected the town
and the citizens of Decatur County with distant markets. Along the railroad John Goodnow
built a flour mill, a firm from Lawrenceburg set up an establishment to buy grain, and a
furniture factory and a cooperage manufacture began operations. By the beginning of the
Civil War, the town boasted stores that sold groceries, jewelry, dry goods, clothing, shoes
and boots, hats and drugs, as well as carriage and wagon factories, flouring mills, and
lumber mills. Hotels and saloons provided lodging and food for travelers, and livery stables
cared for their horses and carriages.

Proof of Greensburg’s increased stature was the decision of the citizens to incorporate as a
city and to build a new grander courthouse. In 1854, the old courthouse was razed, the
contract was awarded for the new courthouse, and work was begun on construction. Edwin
G. May of Indianapolis was the architect. May was authorized to spend between $30,000
and $40,000, but the total cost including landscaping and fencing likely cost in excess of
$100,000. In 1859, the citizens of Greensburg voted to operate under a city charter and
elected their first mayor, but they would wait fifteen years before deciding to build a proper
city hall. In the antebellum era, the city council met in second-story quarters in various
buildings in the square.

By 1860, just one year before the beginning of the Civil War, the courthouse was complete
and ready for occupancy. It was a splendid building; in 1904, William Jennings Bryan
reportedly called Greensburg’s courthouse one of the finest examples of Gothic architecture
that he had seen.

Postbellum Greensburg (1860-1900)

Greensburg prospered during the last half of the nineteenth century. Two- and three-story
brick buildings of Victorian architecture replaced many of the Federal-style buildings lining
the courthouse square; the downtown was important to the community as the center of
commerce, political, and cultural activity. It was in this downtown area that numerous civic
and fraternal organizations built or rented quarters. On the eve of the Civil War,

- Greensburg counted 1,283 citizens or about two-thirds the number of inhabitants as
neighboring county seat, Shelbyville.

The courthouse continued to be the center of political activity. Its lawn served as a gathering
point for soldiers and home guard during the Civil War (1861-1865) and as a place of
gathering for veterans afterward. Soldiers who had been recruited from the county had
camped and drilled on the courthouse lawn prior to leaving to join the Union Army. In the
shadow of the courthouse, citizens had formed the "home guard" to protect their homes and
southern Indiana from the invasion of John Morgan and his confederates. Throughout the
rest of the nineteenth century, veterans held campfires on the courthouse lawn where they
would sing war songs, listen to patriotic speeches, and reminiscence with their fellows about
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their lives in earlier days. Apparently, it was in the 1870s that a local citizen first noticed a
tree sprouting from the courthouse roof; one has been in evidence ever since. In 1889, as
other counties began to build new modern courthouses, Decatur County updated its building
by rearranging the interior to accommodate more modern needs. In 1903, the exterior was
covered with stucco to make it look like rock-faced masonry.

Like many other towns across Indiana, Greensburg experienced a building boom in its
downtown in the Gilded Age. Greensburg’s started earlier than most, beginning in the early
1870s, even though a depression plagued much of the nation during that time. In 1873, the
Warthin Block was constructed on Washington Street, and the following year the local
citizens built a proper city hall where the mayor and the police had their offices. As a result
of changes in banking legislation at the state and local level, people began to entrust their
money to banks. In the nineteenth century, banks located in commercial buildings that bore
little physical distinction from stores in town. Fraternal organizations, such as the Elks, the
Odd Fellows, the Red Men, and later the Knights of Pythias, were exceedingly popular in
this period. These organizations had quarters in buildings on the courthouse square.
Sometimes they built commercial blocks, and rented the lower quarters to merchants but kept
the upper floors for meeting rooms and dance halls.

In many commercial blocks, meeting rooms and professional offices occupied the upper
floors, but people lived over the stores downtown as well. The buildings at 127 East Main
and 129 East Main neatly illustrate this point. Although they were constructed nine years
apart, C. B. Burns, a dentist, built them both. He and his wife lived above the store at 129
East Main in rather luxurious quarters that included a marble fireplace (which has since been
removed), a sun porch, and maid’s quarters. The quarters above 127 East Main were likely
used as rental units.

Industry increasingly located on the outskirts of town or along the railroad tracks, but a few
small-scale endeavors remained in the downtown. In the 1880s, there was a marble works at
211 North Broadway; the building has since been replaced. In the 1890s, a cigar
manufactory was located at 126 North Franklin. These two, however, were isolated
occurrences.

Twentieth Century Greensburg (1900-1945)

Just as the railroad had changed Greensburg in the nineteenth century, so would
transportation advances connect Greensburg and southwestern Indiana to the wider world in
the first half of the twentieth century. In 1907, interurban service began; for the first third
of the century, it linked the city to Indianapolis and parts beyond. The downtown that had
been largely rebuilt in the last half of the nineteenth century would reach maturity in the first
decades of the twentieth, and building would slow.
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From 1900 to the mid-1920s commerce prospered even though more distant markets began to
compete with Greensburg’s downtown. Between 1907 and 1932, the interurban carried
people and produce from Indianapolis to Greensburg. Businessmen rode it to work and
back, and farmers sent livestock on special cars to the stockyards. Others found it a
convenient mode of transportation when going to Indianapolis to shop, to the enjoy the
theater, or to visit friends and relatives. Further, by the early 1900s, men were tinkering
with automobile production all over the Midwest; after 1914, mass production ensured that
the automobile and mobility would soon become within the reach of ordinary Americans.
However, even with the access to a larger city, downtown remained important to the local
community; Sanborn maps show that restaurants, bakeries, furniture stores, department
stores, saloons, drygoods merchants, grocers, and numerous banks were located in storefront
buildings.

The increasing connections to the wider world did not diminish the significance of fraternal
organizations to citizens. The Knights of Pythias had constructed its new quarters in 1899,
and by 1908, the order added a theater to the existing building where theatrical troops from
Indianapolis and Cincinnati came to perform minstrel shows, vaudeville, and even some
Shakespearean plays. Local talent performed there as well. By 1910, movies were first
shown, and a screen and projection booth were added in 1923. In 1905, the I.0.0.F. built a
new building on the courthouse square with meeting rooms on the third floor. Further, in
1500, the Odd Fellows built a home just outside of town for about 100 orphans and about
200 elderly of the order. Fraternal organizations provided not only social benefits for their
members, but in a day before government assistance, welfare benefits as well.

Leisure time activities came to play a greater role in the lives of citizens in Greensburg after
the turn of the century. In 1915, the YMCA was built largely as the result of gifts from
Nelson Mowrey, a wealthy farmer who turned philanthropist. The YMCA, built in Tudor
Revival style, had a gymnasium and a swimming pool, and it quickly became known as a
community center. In the 1920s, men golfed at the nine-hole golf course, and families
participated in water sports on the outskirts of town at a ten-acre artificial lake or took in the
rides at the amusement park that surrounded it. In addition, there was an elaborate summer
resort three miles east of the city on McCoy’s Lake, another artificial lake.

In the 1920s, businesses did well. C.J. Loyd & Company (dealers in eggs and poultry),
Standard Casket Hardware Company, the Kova Brush and Broom Manufacturing Company,
Garland Milling Company, and the Reliance Shirt Manufacturing Company employing 200
"girls” were located in Greensburg although outside the downtown district.  Quarrying
outside of town continued to be an important industry. Warehouses stored tobacco from
Franklin and Ripley counties before it was shipped via rail. All of these endeavors pumped
money into the economy and fueled the business growth of the downtown.
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Financial institutions prospered as well, at least until the stock market crash and economic
collapse that followed. In 1918, the Third National Bank built a new building at 119 East
Main, and a few doors away at 103 East Main Street, the Greensburg Savings and Loan
constructed new facilities in 1922. In 1927, a local newspaper reported six financial
institutions with $5 million in resources in the downtown area. These included Third
National, Citizens National, Greensburg National, Union Trust Company, Greensburg
Building and Loan association, and the Workingmen’s Building and Loan Association.

After the 1920s, construction in the downtown slowed and then sputtered. In 1900, the
population totaled 5,034 and yet fifty years later, it had grown to only 6,619. (As a point of
comparison, the population of Shelbyville in nearby Shelby County increased from 7,169 to
10,791 between 1900 and 1940.) During the Great Depression little new construction
occurred. During World War 1II, people concentrated on war production and saving for a
post-war life rather than consumption, yet they still transacted governmental business, traded,
and shopped in downtown Greensburg. Business just wasn’t as profitable as it had once been
and growth of the downtown business district ceased. Notably, the federal government did
construct a new post office in 1931, proof of its increasing authority in local communities.
Although radio began to create a national cultural community in the 1930s and 1940s,
fraternal organizations still provided a focus for leisure activity for Greensburg’s citizens.

The Greensburg Downtown Historical District was significant locally as a place where
commerce, politics and government were transacted from 1854 to 1945. The buildings that
remain are indicative of its historical development and the architecture symbolized by that
development. They remain a cohesive entity worthy of designation as a historic district.
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10. Geographical Data

Verbal Boundary Description:

Beginning at the northeast corner of Railroad and South Franklin streets, proceed northward
to the northeast corner of the first alley. Turn west and follow the northern side of the alley.
Cross South Broadway and proceed to the first alley. Turn north, and follow the eastern side
of the alley crossing West Main Street and West Washington Street to the southern edge of
North Street. Turn east. Follow this line to the west side of North Broadway Street; turn
south and follow a line extending along the western side of North Broadway until it intersects
with the southern edge of the first alley. Turn east and cross North Broadway Street.
Follow the southern edge of the alley to the western property line of 221 North Franklin.
Turn north and follow this property line to the southern edge of North Street. Turn east and
follow North Street until it intersects with Franklin Street. Turn south, and follow the west
side of North Franklin until it intersects with southern edge of the first alley. Turn east, and
follow the southern edge of the alley until it intersects with the first alley. Turn south and
follow the eastern side of the alley across Washington Street until it intersects with the
southern edge of the first alley. Turn east, and follow the southern side of the alley until it
intersects with North East Street. Turn south and follow the western side North East Street
until it intersects with the northern edge of East Main Street. Proceed west until East Main
intersects with the first alley. Turn south and follow its western edge until it intersects with
Railroad. Turn west, and follow a line extending along the northern side of Railroad to the
starting point.

Boundary Justification:

The Greensburg Downtown Historic District is an entity distinct from the surrounding area.
To the north and east are residential areas. (Photo 1 shows the single family dwellings to the
east.) To the south are parking lots, the railroad tracks, and single-family dwellings. (See
photo 2.) Commercial buildings are located to the west, but they do not bear a sense of .
belonging to the Greensburg Historic District due to the parking lots that separate them from
the downtown square. (See accompanying map.) Thus, the Greensburg Downtown Historic
District with its aura of downtown commercial and political development is an area
distinguished from its surroundings.







